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IN THE HIGH COURT OF SOUTH AFRICA 

(WESTERN CAPE DIVISION, CAPE TOWN) 

CASE NUMBER    :              SS15/2015 

DATE     :             14 MARCH 2017 

In the matter between:  5 

THE STATE                                    

and 

LINDANI NAKANI                                                       Accused 

 

S E N T E N C E 10 

 

BOQWANA, J :  

 

Introduct ion 

The accused was convicted of  the murder of  Busiswa Centane 15 

Rwayi ( ‘ the deceased ’ ) ,  commit ted under c ircumstances fa l l ing 

with in the purview of  sect ion 51 of  the Criminal Law 

Amendment Act  105 of  1997 (“The Criminal Law Amendment 

Act”)  in that  the of fence that  he commit ted was planned or 

premeditated.   20 

 

The considerat ions that  the Court  looks at  when sentencing 

are wel l -establ ished.  In determining sentence , the Court  has 

to look at  what has become known as the t r iad, namely ,  the 

cr ime, the of fender and the interest s of  society.   See S v Zinn 25 
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1969(2) SA 537 (A) at  540G.   

 

In S v Rabie 1975(4) SA 855 (A) the Court  stated that  the 

punishment should f i t  the cr iminal as wel l  as the  cr ime, be fa ir 

to society and that should be blended with a measure of  mercy 5 

according to the circumstances of  the case.   

 

Referr ing to R v Swanepoel  1945 (AD) 444, the court  in S v 

Khumalo and Others  1984(3) SA 327 (AD) at  330 D-E held that 

deterrence was the ‘essent ia l ’ ,  ‘al l  important ’ ,  ‘paramount ’  and 10 

‘universal ly admit ted ’  object  of  punishment.   I t  further held that 

the other purposes of  punishment are accessory to deterrence.  

The retr ibut ive theory has to do with punishing a past  wrongful 

act ,  whi lst  reformat ive,  prevent ive and deterrent  theories are 

al l  about the future ,  “ in  the good that  would be produced as a 15 

resul t  of  the punishment ”  as observed in Rabie supra  at  862A-

B.   

 

I t  was pointed out by the Court  in the case of  R v Karg 1961(1) 

SA 231 (A) at  236A-B that  whi le the deterrent  ef fect  of  20 

punishment has remained as important  as ever ,  the retr ibut ive 

ef fect,  whi lst  by no means absent f rom the modern approach to 

sentencing,  has tended to yie ld ground to aspects of  

prevent ion and correct ion.   The  Court  went on further to state 

that  i f  sentences for ser ious cr imes are too lenient  the 25 
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administrat ion of  just ice may fa l l  in to d isrepute and in jured 

persons may be disposed to taking the law into their  own 

hands. 

 

Prescr ibed minimum sentence 5 

The legis lature has prescr ibed minimum sentences in respect 

of  a var iety of  instances involving ser ious and vio lent cr imes 

with the introduct ion of  the Criminal Law Amendment Act  in 

1997.   

 10 

Sect ion 51(1) read with Part  1(a) of  Schedule 2 of  the Criminal 

Law Amendment  Act  prescr ibes a minimum sentence of  l i fe 

imprisonment where murder was premeditated or p lanned.   

 

In terms of  sect ion 51(3)(a) the Court  may deviate f rom the 15 

minimum sentence prescr ibed if  i t  f inds that  there are 

substant ia l  and compel l ing circumstances  just i fying imposit ion 

of  a lesser sentence than that  which is prescr ibed.  In that 

regard,  i t  shal l  enter those circumstances on the record of  the 

proceedings and thereupon impose such a lesser sentence.   20 

For a Court  to come to that  conclusion i t  must con sider the 

tota l i ty of  the evidence before i t ,  together with other re levant 

factors t radi t ional ly taken into account when sentencing, 

together with the pr incip les or purpose of  sentencing set  out  in 

the judgments I  have referred to above.   25 
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In the wel l -known decis ion of  S v Malgas 2001(1) SACR 469 

(SCA) the Supreme Court of  Appeal (“ the SCA”) set  out  how 

the concept of  ‘substant ia l  and compel l ing ’  c i rcumstances 

should be approached.  The Court  summarised i ts approach at 5 

470-471 as fo l lows:  

 

A. “Sect ion 51 has l imited but not e l iminated the 

court ’s discret ion imposing sentence in respect of  

of fences referred to in Part  1 of  Schedule 2 (or 10 

imprisonment for other specif ied periods for 

of fences l isted in other parts of  Schedule 2). 

 

B. Courts are required to approach the imposit ion of  

sentence conscious that  the Legislature has 15 

ordained l i fe imprisonment (or the part icular 

prescr ibed period of  imprisonment) as the sentence 

that should ordinari ly and in the absence of  weighty 

just i f icat ion be imposed for the l is ted cr im es in the 

specif ied circumstances.  20 

 
C. Unless there are , and can be seen to be , t ru ly 

convincing reasons for a d if ferent response , the 

cr imes in quest ion are therefore required to e l ic i t  a 

severe,  standardised and consistent response f rom 25 
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the courts.  

 
D.  The specif ied sentences are not  to be departed 

f rom l ight ly or for f l imsy reasons .  Speculat ive 

hypotheses favourable to the of fender,  undue 5 

sympathy,  aversion  to imprisoning f i rst  of fenders, 

personal doubts as to the ef f icacy of  the pol icy 

underlying the legis lat ion,  and marginal  d if ferences 

in personal c ircumstances or degrees of  

part ic ipat ion between co -of fenders are to be 10 

excluded. 

 
E. The Legislature has however del iberately lef t  i t  to 

the courts to decide whether the circumstances of  

any part icular case cal l  for  a departure f rom the 15 

prescr ibed sentence . Whi le the emphasis has 

shi f ted to the object ive gravi ty of  the type of  cr ime 

and the need for ef fect ive sanct ions against  i t ,  th is 

does not mean that  a l l  other considerat ions are to 

be ignored.  20 

 
F.  Al l  factors (other than those set  out  in D above ) 

t radi t ional ly taken into account in sentencing 

(whether or not  they diminish moral  gui l t )  thus 

cont inue to p lay a ro le ;  none is excluded at  the 25 

outset  f rom considerat ion in the sentencing 
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process.  

 
G. The ul t imate impact of  a l l  the circumstances 

re levant to sentencing must be measured against 

the composite yardst ick ( ‘substant ia l  and 5 

compel l ing ’ )  and must be such as cumulat ively 

just i fy a departure f rom the standardised response 

that  the Legislature has ordained.  

 
 10 

H. In applying the statutory provis ions ,  i t  is 

inappropriate ly constr ict ing to use the concepts 

developed in deal ing with appeals against  sentence 

as the sole cr i ter ion.  

 15 

I .  I f  the sentencing court  on considerat ion of  the 

circumstances of  the part icular case is sat isf ied 

that  they render the prescr ibed sentence  unjust  in 

that  i t  would be disproport ionate to the cr ime, the 

cr iminal and the needs of  society ,  so that an 20 

in just ice would be done by imposing that  sentence , 

i t  is  ent i t led to impose a lesser sentence.  

 
J.  In so doing,  account must be taken of  the fact  that 

cr ime of  that  part icular k ind has been singled out 25 

for severe punishment and that  the sentence to be 
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imposed in l ieu of  the prescr ibed sentence should 

be assessed paying due regard to the benchmark 

which the Legislature has provided. ”    

The concept of  substant ia l  and compel l ing circumstances 

has not been def ined in the legis lat ion ;  i t  has been lef t  5 

up to the courts to decide ,  based on circumstances of  

each case, as to what const i tutes compel l ing and 

substant ia l  factors.   What is important  to note is that 

such circumstances are not  required to be except ional in 

the sense of  being seldom encountered or rare . 10 

Departure would be just i f ied i f  there is just i f icat ion to do 

so,  having regard to the weight of  a l l  the re levant fac tors 

cumulat ively.   In contrast  i t  would be improper to deviate 

f rom the minimum sentence purely for personal 

preference of  f l imsy reasons.  15 

 

Mit igat ing and aggravat ing c ircumstances: 

The accused did not  lead evidence in mit igat ion of  sentence, 

Mr Theunissen presented factors to be taken into account 

when sentence is considered , on behalf  of  the accused , ex 20 

parte  and which he argued should be regarded as substant ia l 

and compel l ing.   I  have also had regard to the evidence that 

was led in the main t r ia l  by the  accused which is re levant to 

the considerat ion of  mit igat ing factors.   I t  would have been 

not iced that  a s izeable amount of  evidence re levant to the 25 
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quest ion of  sentence was led during the main t r ia l .  

 

The State on the other hand , during the sentencing 

proceedings,  led the evidence of  Nomvuyo Centane  

( ‘Centane’) ,  the deceased’s s ister,  and also pointed to factors 5 

that  should be considered as aggravat ing.   Mr Moeketsi 

submitted that  there were no substant ia l  and compel l ing 

circumstances warrant ing deviat ion  f rom the minimum 

sentence prescr ibed.   

 10 

I  deal with a l l  the issues submit ted by the part ies during the 

sentencing proceedings ,  as wel l  as the evidence that  was led 

during such proceedings and during the main t r ia l .  

 

The of fender: 15 

The accused’s personal c i rcumstances. 

The accused is a 38 year o ld unmarr ied man.  He has two 

minor chi ldren aged 10 and 16, f rom dif ferent  mothers.   Pr ior 

to h is incarcerat ion in re lat ion to this case ,  he worked as a 

pol iceman with the South Af r ican Pol ice Service at  the Bel lvi l le  20 

Rai lway Stat ion ,  having started there in June 2010.  Before 

that  he worked at  Kuyasa Pol ice Stat ion in Colesberg.  He had 

been there since 2008 , having been transferred f rom 

Namaqualand.  He f in ished his matr ic and was also t ra ined as 

a pol ice of f icer at  the Pol ice Col lege.  The accused has had a 25 
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home in the Eastern Cape.   I t  appears f rom the evidence in the 

main t r ia l  that  he was a breadwinner to h is Eastern Cape 

family.   Mr Theunissen submit ted that ,  as a pol ice of f icer ,  the 

accused was a good standing member with no previous 

discip l inary records.   Captain Mandlakhe  Cryprian Ntshingi la 5 

test i f ied during the main t r ia l  that  as the accused’s commander 

he never experienced any personal problems with h im and they 

got on wel l  wi th each other.   Departmental ly h e was not aware 

of  any complaints against  the accused.  Colonel Jacobus 

Phi l l ip  Fredericks test i f ied that  the accused was a discip l ined 10 

member,  very neat with h is uniform. His pr ivate vehic le was 

also neat inside out.   I t  was also submitted on behalf  of  the 

accused that  he at tended church and was a worshiper.   The 

accused sought to show in the main t r ia l  by the questions he 

put to the witnesses that  what he did on the day of  the incident 15 

was out of  character ,  evidenced by,  amongst other th ings ,  the 

manner in which the f i rearm was lef t  in  the vehic le ,  which 

according to h im, was indicat ive of  a person who was act ing 

abnormal ly.  The accused has no previous convict ions.  

 20 

The accused’s emotional state: 

The accused test i f ied in the main tr ia l  that  he suf fered f ro m 

severe depression for which he has been receiving t reatment 

over a period of  t ime, i .e.  s ince 2010, which he test i f ied was 

caused by the stress in the re lat ionship in i t iated by the 25 
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deceased.  He test i f ied that  he was hospita l ised for that 

condit ion on two occasions,  being 2010 and 2012.  He sought 

a t ransfer to the Eastern Cape to get  away f rom the si tuat ion 

with the deceased but h is appl icat ion was turned down.  He 

blamed the management of  the police for not  applying their 5 

minds to the psychiatr ic report  prepared by Dr Dhansay 

mot ivat ing for h is t ransfer and for the si tuat ion he f inds himself  

in.    

 

Mr Theunissen submit ted that  even though the Court  was not 10 

persuaded that  the emot ional condit ion of  the accused led to 

automat ism when he was convicted , i t  s t i l l  p layed a part  as 

one of  the factors to be considered in sentence.   

 

During the main tr ia l ,  evidence as wel l  as argument was led 15 

extensively on the emot ional condit ion of  the accused.  The 

accused al leged that  he was i l l - t reated and abused by the 

deceased emot ional ly,  psychologica l ly and socia l ly f rom the 

beginning stages of  their  re lat ionship.   He test i f ied that  he 

suf fered in that re lat ionship for many years due to the 20 

deceased’s conduct.  He test i f ied further that  when he moved 

f rom Colesberg to Cape Town in 2010, he did so on the 

strength of  the deceased’s commitment to help f inancia l ly ,  

having advised her  that  he was bui ld ing a house in the Eastern 

Cape and that  he could not  af ford the rental  in Cape Town.  25 
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When he got to Cape Town, the deceased became a changed 

person scold ing and disrespect ing him in f ront  of  the chi ldren.  

She did not  keep to her f inancia l  commitment.   The two started 

by sharing a rented f lat  in Kensington with the two minor 

chi ldren of  the deceased , for which the accused contends  he 5 

paid rent  in fu l l  wi th no help f rom the deceased.   They later 

moved to a house in Delf t .   Many f ights and tempestuous 

incidents,  which I  need not repeat ,  occurred during the 

durat ion of  the relat ionship ,  having started even before the 

accused moved to Cape Town.  The accused moved out of  the 10 

Delf t  house in 2012 to l ive at  the police barracks in Pinelands , 

a l though he states that  he would go to the Delf t  house on his 

of f  days mainly because of  Aqhama, the deceased’s younger 

daughter with whom he had a close re lat ionship and regarded 

as his own daughter.   In fact  he regarded both of  the 15 

deceased’s daughters as his own but was closer to the 

younger one. At  some point  however ,  he decided that he wi l l  

never set  foot  at their  house in Delf t  again ,  af ter he was 

grabbed by one of  the pol icemen that  had been cal led by the 

deceased.  The pol icemen to ld h im to leave the house.   20 

 

Perhaps to h ighl ight  some of  the incidents that  occurred in the 

re lat ionship :  The accused test i f ied that  the deceased fa i led to 

d isclose her HIV status to h im, which made him th ink that  she 

was intending to k i l l  other people.   He discovered th is in 2011 25 
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when the deceased la id in hospita l  af ter being severely i l l .   He 

nevertheless decided to stay in the re lat ionship.  State 

witnesses,  Centane and Bongeka Mhambi ( ‘Mhambi ’)  test i f ied 

about how the accused sent them messages or cal led them 

accusing the deceased of  infect ing or want ing to infect  h im or 5 

‘ the whole world ’  wi th HIV.  The accused put to Mhambi during 

cross-examinat ion that  he only sent  a message that  the 

deceased was suf fer ing f rom HIV and A IDS and was evi l .   

Nevertheless the accused was tested and found to be 

negat ive.   The accused also test i f ied about another incident 10 

that  occurred in October 2012 , when he was l iving between the 

barracks and the Delf t  house when he caught the deceased 

with a man in a sexual ly compromising posi t ion.   He stated 

that  he heard about many other af fairs that  the deceased had , 

which made him feel  humil iated and used. He also test i f ied 15 

that  he was refused int imacy by the deceased and concluded 

that  she must be involved elsewhere.   According to h im, the 

deceased denied that  she was having af fa irs with other men.  

The accused refused to admit that  he did not want to see the 

deceased with other men or that  he was jealous of  her or that 20 

he was annoyed by her behaviour.   He however conf ronted her 

f requent ly about these al leged af fa irs and fo l lowed up on 

informat ion he received by phoning the al leged culpr i t .   The 

accused once at tempted suic ide using his f i rearm.  He test i f ied 

that  Centane once to ld h im that  he was obsessed with the 25 
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deceased, which he refuted.   

 

The evidence of  the state witnesses Mhambi and Centane and 

that  of  the accused 's witness Vuyani Memani ( ‘Memani ’)  

conf i rmed the tumultuous nature of  th is re lat ionship.   Centane 5 

and Mhambi re layed the deceased’s s ide of  the story ,  saying 

that  she was abused in the re lat ionship by the accused and 

decided to get  an interdict .   At  some point ,  the accused 

assaulted her a l though that  matter was resolved and i t ,  

accord ing to the accused, happened in 2013 long before the 10 

interdict .   The inter im protect ion order was handed in,  in Court 

as an exhib i t .    

 

I  do not  accept that the accused was the vict im that he 

portrayed himself  to be in th is re lat ionship.  At  best ,  and on 15 

careful  assessment of  the evidence , both part ies hurt  or 

mistreated one another in some way or the other.   The 

accused who confronted the deceased about the boyf r iends 

that  he al leged she slept  with in h is house. He kept going to 

the Delf t  house even though he had moved into the barracks ( I  20 

accept that  he regarded the house at Delf t  as h is home too) .  At 

some stage he knocked at  the window of  the deceased’s 

bedroom unt i l  i t  broke,  suspect ing that  there was a man in the 

house. He once cal led a neighbour ,  by the name of  Request ,  to 

witness an argument between him and the deceased and 25 
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disclosed the deceased’s HIV status upon being cal led crazy 

by her.   These are but examples of  th ings the accused said or 

d id to the deceased. I  accept that the deceased may have 

done many th ings that  caused the accused a lot  of  pain ,  but  he 

kept going back to her even af ter he moved out and found a 5 

p lace at  the barracks.   I f  the message was not expressed 

verbal ly by the deceased that  the re lat ionship was over ,  the 

events that  took place f rom the beginning of  the re lat ionship 

and systemat ical ly over the years were te l l ing and would have 

made i t  qui te c lear to the accused that  th is re lat ionship was 10 

not working and he had a choice to walk away.   

 

The accused test i f ied that  the severe em ot ional stress he 

suf fered for over many years was aggravated by the inter im 

protect ion order that  the deceased obtained against h im.  In 15 

th is regard the issue that  drove him to the state of  emot ional 

d is integrat ion was the fact  that  he had to hand in h is service 

pisto l ,  af ter being unsuccessful  in convincing the magistrate 

that  h is f i rearm be excluded f rom the inter im order ,  on the 

return day of  the hearing of  the appl icat ion of  the protect ion 20 

order,  i .e.  on 3 July 2014.  I t  wi l l  be recal led that ,  according to 

the accused, having his f i rearm on his person which was his  

working tool  was important  because without i t  he could not 

work overt ime.  The benef i t  of  overt ime is that  he needed the 

money he received for overt ime for h is family f inancia l 25 
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responsib i l i t ies.   According to the accused , the interdict 

reminded him of  a l l  the th ings he had been through with the 

deceased over the years and i t  t r iggered and created a state of  

heightened emot ional stress that  led him not to act rat ional ly 

by shoot ing and ki l l ing the deceased.   5 

 

According to Mr Theunissen , the accused landed in a 

re lat ionship which caused dysfunct ional behaviour f rom t ime  to 

t ime and al though i t  would have been very wise for h im to 

leave the re lat ionship ,  i t  was dif f icul t  for h im to walk away 10 

even af ter d iscovering inf idel i ty and a number of  other th ings 

which caused great emot ional react ion for h im.  He was i l l  and 

had to be given t ime of f  f rom work many t imes.  According to 

Mr Theunissen, th is emot ional factor is substant ia l  and 

compel l ing on i ts  own for the Court  to take into account.  15 

 

The nature of  the of fence 

The accused has been convicted of  a very ser ious of fence.  

The part icular c ircumstances surrounding the ki l l ing of  the 

deceased in th is case are gruesome and need some specia l  20 

ment ion.   The evidence indicates that  the deceased was ki l led 

in a cruel  manner by use of  a f i rearm belonging to the 

accused.  According to Constable Vuyolwethu Mini  ( ‘Mini ’ ) ,  he 

col lected 19 exhibi ts on the scene which comprised 4 bul lets 

and 15 cartr idge cases.  Benedict  Terrence Hi l l ( ‘Hi l l ’ )  test i f ied 25 
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that  dur ing the examinat ion of  the vehic le of  the accused , f i red 

bul lets were found in the vehic le.   Hi l l  examined 15 cartr idge 

cases and four f i red bul lets he received and concluded that 

they came f rom the same f i rearm, a 9mm Z88 semi-automat ic.   

Both Mini  and Hi l l  test i f ied that  a 9mm Z88 semi -automat ic 5 

p isto l  was used by the members of  the SAPS.  I t  is  designed to 

carry 15 rounds of  bul lets , but  i t  was possib le for i t  to carry 16 

in tota l  by put t ing an extra bul let i nto the chamber of  the 

weapon.  Hi l l  agreed that  i t  could be concluded that  i f  the 

f i rearm carr ied 15 rounds ,  the f i red cartr idges would have been 10 

f i red f rom the empty magazine that  was found next  to the 

f i rearm.  I t  was not d isputed by the accused that  th e magazine 

carr ied 15 rounds and that  the ent i re magazine was empt ied by 

f i r ing al l  the bul lets that were contained therein onto the body 

of  the deceased.  15 

 

Hi l l  test i f ied further that  he observed during the autopsy that  

the deceased had bul let  entry and ex i t  wounds on the r ight  arm 

and the r ight  and lef t  s ide of  the stomach area as wel l  as on 

the back and buttocks.    20 

 

Dr Estavao Bernardo Afonso ’s  evidence, who conducted the 

post-mortem of  the deceased, revealed a vic ious at tack on the 

deceased.  His test imony was that  there were 42 gunshot 

wounds on the body of  the deceased , comprised seven 25 



 
S S 1 5 / 2 0 1 5  

17 SENTENCE 

 

/NY  / . . .  

perforat ing gunshots on the r ight  arm of  the deceased 

translat ing into fourteen wounds consist ing of  seven entry and 

seven exi t  wounds, s ixteen entrance and re -entrance wounds 

to the r ight  s ide of  the torso and twelve on the lef t  s ide of  the 

torso.   According to h im , the deceased died of  mult ip le 5 

gunshot wounds.  Seven project i les were recovered, i .e.  three 

f rom the cloth ing and four f rom the body.  The internal in jur ies 

observed included bowel perforat ion,  lacerat ion of  the kidney, 

f racture of  the forearm, pelvis and the tenth r ib.  The fourteen  

wounds present on the r ight  forearm meant that  the weapon 10 

was f i red seven t imes on the r ight  arm . Therefore,  seven 

bul lets entered and exi ted the arm.  Some of  those bul lets re -

entered the body through the pelvis and the abdomen.  Other 

wounds were f rom direct  shots into the abdominal wal l ,  the 

chest,  the lower back,  the pelvic and the hip area as wel l  as 15 

the buttocks of  the deceased.  Two of  the gunshot wounds that 

went through the tenth r ib l i tera l ly f ractured and broke the 

tenth r ib.   

The force of  the gunshot a lso in jured the r ight  lung causing the 

bruise on the lung result ing in a l i t t le  b i t  of  b lood around the 20 

lung.  The wounds were about 6 to 7 mi l l imetres in s ize.   I t  

appears that  the abdominal area of  the deceased was 

completely damaged with the pelvic  wal ls f ractured and one 

gunshot in jur ing her uterus.   Dr Afonso test i f ied that  given the 

extensive nature of  the wounds even i f  the deceased had 25 
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received immediate surgical  t reatment , he doubted that  the 

surgery would have had a posi t ive outcome . Therefore the 

deceased had very l i t t le  chance of  surviving,  i f  any.   The post -

mortem f indings i l lustrate the dreadful  nature of  the ki l l ing of  

the deceased.   5 

 

The ki l l ing of  the deceased was found to have been planned.   

As stated in the main judgment ,  on 25 June 2014, the accused, 

who was on leave , was cal led to the Bel lvi l le  Pol ice Stat ion 

and informed about the inter im in terdict .   Cruc ia l ly,  the orders 10 

contained in the inter im protect ion order were ,  in ter a l ia ,  that 

he was not to assault  or threaten to assault the deceased and 

the chi ldren nor use foul ,  insul t ing or abusive language, nor 

harass them; that  he was not to enter the deceased’s 

residence/premises at  Delf t  and that  h is f i rearm was to be 15 

seized by a pol ice of f icer in Pinelands.   

 

The accused test i f ied that  when he was asked about the 

f i rearm by the police of f icer that  served the inter im order on 

him on 25 June 2014 , he to ld the police of f icer that  h is f i rearm 20 

was at  h is workplace because he was under the impression 

that  i t  was there ,  as he ordinari ly would have not taken i t  when 

he was not on duty.   He test i f ied that  he only d iscovered i t  on 

the morning of  the return day of  the  protect ion order,  i .e.3 July 

2014 which was the morning he was due to appear in Court .   25 
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The explanat ion that  he gave for h im only d iscover ing the 

f i rearm on that  day was that  he was planning to work the 

nightshif t  on that  day and he would normal ly cut  h is hair  before 

he goes to work.   When he opened his safe at  the barracks 

where he kept h is Q20 oi l  which he used to lubr icate h is hair 5 

cut t ing machine, he discovered that  the f i rearm was with the 

Q20 oi l  in  the safe.   He decided that  he was going to return t he 

f i rearm on the evening when he went to work for h is n ightshif t .    

 

 10 

I  found that  the accused’s compl iance with the inter im Court  

order d id not  seem to be foremost in h is mind.  He could have 

been more vigi lant  in h is act ions if  he wanted to comply with 

the Court  order .  First ly,  by ensuring that  the f i rearm was 

def in i te ly at  h is workplace and hand ing i t  over to a pol ice 15 

of f icer ( in Pinelands) as required by the inter im protect ion 

order or at Bel lvi l le  Pol ice Stat ion if  that  was not the 

procedure that  was al lowed or appl icable.   Even if  i t  were to be 

accepted that  he only d iscovered i t  on the morning of  3 July 

2014, having learnt  that  i t  was not at  the workplace as he 20 

thought i t  was,  i t  was incumbent upon him to immediately take 

i t  to the pol ice stat ion and  hand i t  in  that  morning.   He 

admitted that  the Bel lvi l le  Pol ice Stat ion was r ight  across the 

street  f rom the Bellvi l le  Magistrate s Court  where he was due to 

appear that  morning.   He instead lef t  the f i rearm at  the 25 
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barracks when he attended Court .   According to h im, he 

thought he could convince the magistrate that  the f i rearm 

should be excluded f rom the inter im protect ion order.   Having 

fa i led to convince the magistrate ,  the f i rst  th ing would have 

been to take the f i rearm immediately to the pol ice stat ion a t 5 

e i ther Pinelands or Bel lvi l le  so as to comply with the Court 

order forthwith ,  before going to hospita l ,  which was his a l leged 

dest inat ion.  He could st i l l  dr ive.   The accused, however,  d id 

not  do that .  That ,  as I  found, led to an inescapable conclusion 

that  the accused did not  want to return the f i rearm . Even i f  he 10 

was on his way to hospita l  to get h imself  admit ted as he says 

he was, he did not cal l  h is commander to d ispatch someone to 

fetch the f i rearm at  the barracks or even to meet h im at  the 

hospita l  as he al leged that to have been the plan.  

Furthermore,  h is reason for taking the f i rearm with h im to 15 

hospita l  was to comply pr imari ly with the Provincia l  Procedure 

which st ipulates that  pol ice of f icers are not a l lowed to have 

their  f i rearms in their  possession i f  they are to lay in hospita l 

for a long period of  t ime and not to comply with the Court 

order.    20 

 

The accused took a f i rearm loaded with a fu l l  magazine with 

h im and landed up in Delf t .   Whether the planning to shoot the 

deceased was done whi lst  dr iving with an intent ion to go to 

hospita l  or he changed his mind along the way is  not  re levant.  25 
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What is re levant is that he drove to Delf t  wi th a loaded f i rearm 

,he then got out  of  the vehic le,  had a conversat ion with the 

deceased asking her what is i t  that  she wanted f rom him now. 

According to h im, he was insul ted by the deceased and 

thereafter he did not  know how he drew his p isto l  and what 5 

happened thereaf ter.   He however admits that  the deceased 

died in h is hands because the f i rearm was in  h is possession.  

He did not  d ispute that  he f i red the shots ,  emptying the whole 

magazine that  carried 15 rounds of  bul lets.    

 10 

Impact of  the deceased’s death on the family  

Centane, the sister of  the deceased , test i f ied that  the 

deceased had two minor daughters who are  seven and sixteen 

years o ld respect ively.   The chi ldren had been staying with her 

since their  mother’s passing in 2014.  Since December 2016 15 

the father of  the youngest chi ld decided to take the child.   She 

had been maintain ing both chi ldren unt i l  the father of  the 

youngest took her.   Centane test i f ied that  i t  was up to the 

Court  to impose a sentence that i t  considered appropriate.  

She had forgiven the accused but she would not  forget  what 20 

happened. 

 

Interest of  society 

Domest ic vio lent  cases are prevalent  in our society.   Many 

cases involv ing murder or vio lent  cr imes between husbands 25 
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and wives or those in int imate re lat ionships are too f requent in 

our courts.   In Kekana v The State (629/13) [2014] ZACSA 158 

(1 October 2014) Mathopo AJA (as he then was),  remarked at 

para 20 as fo l lows:  

 5 

“Domest ic vio lence has become a scourge in our society 

and should not  be t reated l ight ly.   I t  has to be deplored 

and also severely punished.  Hardly a day passes without 

a report  in the media of  a woman or a chi ld being beate n, 

raped or even ki l led in th is country.   Many women and 10 

chi ldren l ive in constant fear for their  l ives.   This is in 

some respects a negat ion of  many of  their  fundamental 

r ights such as equal i ty,  human digni ty and bodi ly 

integri ty.   This was wel l  art iculat ed in S v Chapman when 

th is court  said the fo l lowing:  15 

‘Women in th is country…  have a legi t imate r ight  to 

walk peaceful ly on the streets ,  to enjoy their 

shopping and their  enterta inment to go and come 

f rom work and to enjoy the peace and tranqui l l i ty of  

the ir  homes without the fear the apprehension and 20 

the insecuri ty which constant ly d iminish the qual i ty 

and the enjoyment of  their  l ives. ’ ”  

I t  is  aggravat ing that  the accused was a t ra ined pol ice of f icer 

who had a duty to protect  the community and enforce the law.  

Pol ice of f icers are part icular ly enjo ined to protect  vulnerable 25 
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members of  the society f rom domest ic vio lence and abuse.  

They are expected to do al l  they can to assist  defenceless 

vict ims of  those re lat ionships.   The power they have is not  to 

be used to attack help less members of  the publ ic ,  let  a lone 

those in c lose re lat ionships to them, no matter how sour those 5 

re lat ionships.   In the si tuat ion in th is case the deceased was 

vulnerable and unarmed.   

 

What is more concerning and serious is that  the d eceased had 

done al l  she could in terms of  the law to protect  hersel f .   She 10 

had gone to Court  to seek protect ion for herself  f rom the 

accused.  Whether or not  the inter im protect ion order was 

warranted is not  the issue.  The issue is that  i t  existed.   The 

deceased, for her own reasons ,  saw i t  f i t  to approach the Court 

and ask for protect ion against  the accused and she was 15 

granted that  protect ion by means of  an order that  prohib i ted 

the accused f rom going to their  house in Delf t  and f rom 

carrying a f i rearm.   

 

The terms of  the protect ion order were to protect  the deceased 20 

against  the very same conduct that  was perpetrated on her by 

the accused.  According to the accused , the deceased to ld the 

Court  that  morning that  she did not  feel  safe.   The inter im 

protect ion order stated that  the accused should not  go to their  

house in Delf t  and secondly that  h is f i rearm should be seized 25 
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by a pol iceman.  The accused breached both of  those orders 

and did the opposite of  what he was to ld and expected to do 

by the Court .   He did precisely what the interdict  sought to 

prevent.  

 5 

The quest ion of  d iminished cr iminal responsib i l i ty 

In some cases,  whi le non-pathological  cr iminal incapacity was 

re jected as a defence, i t  was st i l l  found to have had an 

overwhelming ef fect  on the conduc t of  the accused.  In 

Director of  Publ ic Prosecut ions ,  Transvaal  v Venter  2009(1) 10 

SACR 165 (SCA) at  pa ra 22, Mlambo JA (as he then was) went 

through a ser ies of  cases of  the SCA that  dealt  wi th th is issue 

such as S v Laubscher  1988(1) SA 163 (A) where the Court 

found the appel lant  to have acted with d iminished cr iminal 

responsib i l i ty and suspended half  of  h is s ix year sentence.  15 

The appel lant ,  in the Laubscher case, had f i red a tota l  of  21 

rounds f rom his p isto l  in h is parents - in- law ’s house having 

been denied access to h is chi ld.   A cr iminal psychologist  and a 

psychiatr ist  test i f ied on his behalf  that  he had been undergoing 

severe stress as a result  of  h is re ject ion by his parents- in- law 20 

as wel l  as h is inabi l i ty to have access to h is chi ld.   Mlambo JA 

referred to var ious other decis ions involving simi lar scenarios.  

I t  is  not  necessary to ment ion al l  of  them save to say that  

Mlambo JA noted that  these judgments were decided at  the 

t ime when i t  was ‘business as usual ’  and the sentencing 25 
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d iscret ion of  the cour ts as yet  unfet tered by the minimum 

sentencing legis lat ion as is current ly the case.   

 

Mlambo JA accepted in the Venter  case supra that  the 

appel lant  experienced ongoing stress caused by the incident 5 

that  occurred in Burundi involving the rape and murder of  a 14 

year o ld gir l ,  which he was incarcerated in pr ison for.   This 

was exacerbated by al leged advances of  a fe l low of f icer to h is 

wife.   The appel lant  had pr ior to the incident showed suic idal 

tendencies.  On the day of  the incident he consumed a lot  of  10 

alcohol.   The Court  accepted that  the appel lant  had lost  some 

sense of  object ivi ty.   He had also suppressed his memory of  

what happened in Burundi as he could not  come to terms with 

i t .   The Court  found that  the appel lant ’s lack of  object ivi ty 

cannot be viewed in isolat ion.  The appel lant  behaved in a 15 

manner that  showed a state of  mind suggest ing that  everyth ing 

had revolved around him and any act ion by his wife and 

chi ldren interpreted by him as amount ing to them leaving him , 

just i f ied murdering them.  The Court was of  the view that  the 

t r ia l  Court  gave insuf f ic ient  weight  to the ser iousness of  the 20 

cr ime.  The appel lant  k i l led his wife and chi ldren brutal ly.   The 

Court  observed that  i t  was in the interest of  society that 

persons who commit  such serious of f ences are appropriate ly 

sentenced.   

 25 



 
S S 1 5 / 2 0 1 5  

26 SENTENCE 

 

/NY  / . . .  

In that  case,  the Court  found that the matter cal led for a 

sentence that  took cognisance of  the appel lant ’s personal 

circumstances, the ser iousness of  the of fences and the need 

for severi ty and deterrence , the latter e lement is at  the core of  

the community interest  in how courts should deal with  v io lent 5 

cr imes.  I t  increased the sentence given by the lower Court  to 

18 years.   In that instance the prescr ibed minimum sentence 

was 15 years.    

 

In a separate judgment ,  concurr ing with Mlambo JA, Nugent JA 10 

concluded as fo l lows at  para 70:  

 

“ I t  is  t ragic whenever a man reaches a stage of  despair  

that  resigns him to suic ide but the law would fa i l  i f  i t  d id 

not  make i t  absolute ly c lear that  h is wife and chi ldren are 15 

not h is property to take with h im to eterni ty.   I  said 

earl ier that  but for the respondent ’s considerable despair  

the proper sentence would have been l i fe imprisonment.”  

 

In S v Mgibelo  2013(2) SACR 559 (GSJ) an accused who had 20 

been in a previous re lat ionship with the deceased set  f ire on a 

shack where her ex-boyf r iend, the deceased in that  case, was 

sleeping with h is gir l f r iend af ter dousing i t  wi th an inf lammable 

l iquid.   The deceased died of  burn wounds.  The Court  found 

the accused had planned del iberately to set  th e f i re.   I t  held at 25 
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para 9: 

“ [a]n essent ia l  character ist ic of  a cr ime of  passion is 

when an of fence is committed ‘wi thout rat ional ref lect ion 

whilst  the perpetrator was inf luenced by a barely 

contro l lable emot ion’” .   (See S v Mvhamvhu 2005(1) 5 

SACR 54 (SCA) at  para 13).  The court  went further to 

say that :  

 

“This case is accordingly d ist inguishable f rom a typical  

scenario ‘ in which an accused reacts spontaneously to 10 

perceived provocat ion ,  dr iven by anger ,  without suf f ic ient  

t ime to consider h is act ions.  In th is case,  the accused did 

not  unexpectedly and shockingly d iscover the deceased 

with the complainant.  By her own version ,  she was 

aware of  their  re lat ionship.   By her version ,  the deceased 15 

had a history of  numerous love re lat ionships.   The 

accused and the deceased were not marr ied.   The 

accused had no obl igat ion to stay in her re lat ionship with 

the deceased but could have moved on with her l i fe.   

[10]  On the occasion of  these incidents she went looking 20 

for the complainant and had wanted the deceased to 

publ ic ly denounce their  re lat ionship.   She must have 

known, as the State witnesses test i f ied ,  that  the 

deceased did not  love her anymore.”  

 25 
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The Court  found there to be no substant ia l  and compel l ing 

circumstances and imposed a sentence of  l i fe imprisonment.  

Another important case is that of  S v Dikana  2008(2) Al l  SA 

182(E) where the court  re jected that the of fence in that  case 

involved a cr ime of  passion.  At  para 7 i t  observed that  a 5 

period of  some three hours had elapsed between the perceived 

provocat ion and the murder and the intent ion to murder was 

formulated at  least  two hours before the commission.   The 

accused in that  case fe l t  undermined and angry when he 

suspected his gir l f r iend was having sexual intercourse with 10 

another man.  He said he fe l t  d izzy an d walked away th inking 

about what to do.  He secured a bot t le, f i l led i t  wi th paraf f in 

and to ld a witness he was considering  burning the two 

deceased.  He then set  a l ight  a shack they were in ,  k i l l ing 

them.  The Court  found that  the accused acted with 15 

premeditated, purposeful ,  sustained contro l  and ef f ic iency of  

execut ion throughout.  I t  conf i rmed sentences of  l i fe 

imprisonment on the murder charges.  

 

Then in S v Mngoma 2009(1) SACR 435 (E) at para 6 and 7 , 20 

the appeal Court found the ki l l ing was not an immed iate 

response to the provocat ion of  inf idel i ty.   I t  was not an almost 

uncontro l lable act of  vio lence provoked by the discovery of  a 

lover caught red-handed in an act of  adultery.   The Court 

increased a sentence f rom 5 to 12 years.   In that case the 25 
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prescr ibed minimum sentence was 15 years imprisonment as 

premeditat ion was not proven and a plea of  gui l t  was accepted 

that  the murder was commit ted with a form of  intent ion known 

as dolus eventual is .   The State agreed that there were 

substant ia l  and compel l ing c ircumstances just i fying departure 5 

f rom the minimum sentence such as the age of  the accused ( in 

that  case  24 years ),  educat ion, lack of  previous convict ion,  

confessing to h is employer,  handing himself  to the authori t ies 

and pleading gui l ty.   

 10 

In a more recent SCA decis ion of  S v Kekana supra  which 

involved the murder of  a wife by her husband, the appel lant , 

( the accused in the court  a quo)  had pleaded gui l ty and gave a 

statement expla in ing how the of fences of  murder and arson 

were commit ted.   The appel lant  and the deceased had a 15 

tempestuous re lat ionship as in th is case.  The appel lant 

accused the deceased of  extramari ta l  af fa irs and the part ies 

quarrel led cont inuously ,  l ike in th is case.  They threatened to 

k i l l  each other and the deceased to ld h im on severa l  occasions 

to pack his belongings and leave the common home.   On the 20 

day of  the incident he set  the house al ight  having locked the 

deceased in the bedroom.  The appel lant  having been 

incensed by f inding some of  h is c lothes packed in a bag, he 

conf ronted the deceased, went outside to fetch petro l  that  he 

had bought,  in his version ,  for put t ing in h is vehic le  and 25 
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poured the petro l  on the bed in which the deceased was lying.   

When asked by her what he was doing ,  he said that that  was 

the night  she should die.   He cont inued to spi l l  the petro l  in 

the passage, k i tchen and din ing room and set  i t  a l ight .   When 

he saw the f lames he drove to Booysen’s Pol ice Stat ion and 5 

reported his conduct.   He pleaded gui l ty and the statement he 

made was accepted by the State and he was convicted.   I t  was 

argued on behalf  of  the appel lant  that  the t r ia l  Court  erred in 

f inding that  the murder was premeditated.   The submission 

was that  the appel lant  had acted in a spur of  a moment and 10 

was burning with rage when he ki l led the deceased  by set t ing 

f i re to the house- i t  was only when he saw his packed clothes 

that  he decided to k i l l .   The ki l l ing ,  i t  was argued, was thus not 

premeditated.   

 15 

The SCA found that  the re lat ionship was a turbulent  one 

character ised by accusat ions of  inf idel i ty .   I t  found that  i t  was 

not the f i rst  t ime that  the deceased had packed the appel lant ’s 

clothes into a bag and lef t  them at the door.   The appel lant 

dealt  wi th such incidents before without any fata l 20 

consequences.  I t  was di f f icul t  to understand how the fa ct  that 

he found his c lothes packed in a bag and placed near the 

din ing room could have tr iggered anger such as to lead to the 

death of  the deceased.  

 25 
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I t  was argued in Kekana supra  that  there were substant ia l  and 

compel l ing circumstances to deviate f rom th e sentence of  l i fe 

imprisonment in that  the accused had pleaded gui l ty ;  had 

shown remorse for h is act ions ;  was a f i rst  of fender and 

therefore there were prospects that he could be rehabi l i tated 5 

and also that  he was in a turbulent  re lat ionship with the 

deceased where lack of  t rust p layed a major ro le ; he fe lt  

abused and bel i t t led by the deceased and that  when his 

c lothes were packed in a bag in the din ing room he fe lt  

provoked and snapped.  Despite a l l  those factors ,  the Court 10 

found that  the cruel  and painfu l  death of  the deceased at  the 

hands of  her husband, the fact  that  she was ki l led in the one 

place that  she ought to have been safe,  the sanct i ty of  her 

home, were aggravat ing.   Worst  of  al l ,  af ter the house was set  

a l ight  he fa i led to rescue her and secure medical  assistance 15 

for her.   The Court  found that  the ca l lous and heart less 

at t i tude in not  checking the condit ion of  the deceased was 

clear proof  of  h is lack of  remorse.  I t  agreed with the t r ia l  

Court  that  th is conduct  d id not  manifest  genuine remorse in the 

manner descr ibed in S v Matyi tyi  2011(1) SACR 40(SCA) at  20 

para 13.  Talk ing about S v Matyi tyi  supra,  there is an 

important  issue that  was not touched on by Mr Theunissen 

when submit t ing mit igat ing factors and that  is a quest ion of  

remorse.  Perhaps,  i t  is  convenient to deal with that  issue now.  

 25 
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Remorse 

The accused throughout h is evidence indicated that he was 

remorseful  and regret ted what had happened.  The Court  is S v 

Matyi tyi  supra  at para 13 examined the quest ion of  remorse by 

stat ing the fo l lowing:  5 

“ . . .There is ,  moreover,  a chasm between regret  and 

remorse.  Many accused persons might wel l  regret  their  

conduct ,  but  that does not without more t ranslate to 

genuine remorse.  Remorse is a knowing pain of  

conscience for the pl ight  of  another .  Thus genuine 10 

contr i t ion can only come f rom an appreciat ion and 

acknowledgement of  the extent  of  one’s error.   Whether 

the of fender is s incerely remorseful ,  and not s imply 

feel ing sorry h imself  or herself  at  having been caught ,  is 

a factual  quest ion.  I t  is  to the  surrounding act ions of  the 15 

accused, rather than what he says in court ,  that  one 

should rather look.  In order for the remorse to be a val id 

considerat ion , the penitence must be sincere and the 

accused must take the court  fu l ly  into h is or her 

conf idence.  Unt i l  and unless that  happens , the 20 

genuineness of  the contr i t ion al leged to exist  cannot be 

determined.  Af ter a l l ,  before a court  can f ind that  an 

accused person is genuinely remorseful ,  i t  needs to have 

a proper appreciat ion of ,  in ter a l ia ,  what mot ivated the 

accused to commit the deed ;  what has since provoked his 25 
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or her change of  heart ;  and whether he or she does 

indeed have a t rue appreciat ion of  the consequences of  

those act ions…”  (Own emphasis)  

 

In Matyi tyi  supra  the Court  increased the sentence from  25 5 

years to l i fe imprisonment on the basis ,  inter a l ia ,  that the 

respondents conducted themselves with a f lagrant d isregard 

for the sanct i ty of  human l i fe or individual physical  integri ty.   

They acted in a manner that  was unacceptable in any civi l ised 

society part icular ly one that  ought to be commit ted to the 10 

protect ion of  the r ights of  a l l  persons including women (See 

para 24). 

 

In the present matter ,  the accused went to the pol ice to report 

h imself  af ter the incident.   He phoned his commander and his 15 

brother and to ld them that  he had ki l led the deceased short ly 

af ter the incident.   When he had to test i fy however ,  he to ld the 

Court  that  he did not  remember shoot ing the deceased and al l  

that  happened on that  day.   One wonders i f  he was t ru ly 

remorseful  for h is act ions as he did not  take the Court  fu l ly to 20 

his conf idence regarding what happened on the day of  the 

incident.   I t  is  concerning that  h is memory was select ive on 

very crucia l  aspects of  the incident , especia l ly on parts that  

tended to be incr iminat ing,  such as why he drove to the 

deceased’s house i f  he meant to go to the hospita l ,  but 25 
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suddenly remembers when he got to the deceased’s house in 

Delf t  and parked his vehic le and spoke to the deceased.  His 

memory then again d isappears short ly thereaf ter wi th ‘ l ights 

going of f ’  on the crucia l  part  of  the case which is the shoot ing 

incident.  5 

 

What a lso bothers me is that the accused does not seem to 

take fu l l  responsib i l i ty for h is act ions.   Yes,  he does 

acknowledge that  someone passed on in h is hands ,  but  yet  he 

cont inued to shif t  the blame to the deceased : that  had she not 10 

cheated on him, slept  around with boyf r iends and did a l l  the 

th ings she did and f inal ly obtain ing an interdict  against  h im , he 

would not have been faced with the si tuat ion he is now.  That  

does not str ike me as someone who understands the pl ight  of  

another to the point  of  being t ru ly contr i te for h is act ions.    15 

 

The accused also blamed the family of  the deceased for 

conspir ing against h im , and the management of  the pol ice for 

not  giving him a t ransfer to the Eastern Cape and if  they had 

given him the t ransfer based on the mot ivat ion by Dr Dhansay 20 

regarding his emot ional state ,  he would have been away f rom 

the deceased and would not  have been faced with the si tuat ion 

he is faced with  now.  The blame was cont inuously la id at 

everyone else’s feet  for put t ing the accused in the si tuat ion he 

f inds himself  in.    25 
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That ,  in my view, colours the regret that  the accused says he 

has and puts quest ion marks on whether indeed his penitence 

and sorrow is genuine for the pl ight  of  the deceased and for 

her demise.  The deceased was also st i l l  a  re lat ively young 5 

woman, at  37 years o ld ,  with a future ahead of  her.   She was a 

product ive member of  the society ,  working with a house and 

owning a motor vehic le.   She  was also an independent ,  s ingle 

mother with chi ldren.   She is lost  to her family and f r iends , 

unt imely so.    10 

 

Are there substantia l  and compel l ing c ircumstances? 

Against  the background of  a l l  the cases I  have referred to ,  i t  

must be accepted that  the accused was devastated by the 

inter im protect ion order against  h im pr imari ly because he had 15 

to surrender h is f irearm and in turn lose out on overt ime pay 

which he needed to help meet h is f inancia l  s i tuat ion ,  for which 

he blamed the deceased.  As was observed i n the cases I  have 

referred to  above, the act ion of  the accused, ( i .e.  the shoot ing 

of  the deceased),  d id not happen in a spur of  a moment as a 20 

spontaneous reaction to provocat ion ,  dr iven by anger or other 

emot ion where the accused had no suf f ic ient  t ime t o consider 

h is act ions.    

 

The accused test i f ied that  the t r igger to h is act ion was the 25 
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in terdict .   Al though he says he was insul ted by the deceased 

pr ior to the shoot ing ,  he does not say his reason for act ing in 

the manner he did that day was the insul t .  He says i t  was the 

interdict .   In any event ,  i t  could not  have been the insul t  i tself  

that  he reacted to because , on his own version ,  he had been 5 

insul ted many t imes before by the deceased and he never shot 

her.    

 

Furthermore,  i t  appears to me that  he wen t  to the deceased’s 

house already feel ing provoked about the interdict  and 10 

knowing what he wanted to do when he got there.   He started 

by conf ront ing her about the interdict asking “what do you want 

f rom me now”.    

 

I t  is  noteworthy that  the accused knew a bout the inter im 15 

interdict  for just over a week before the incident.   In other 

words he did not  only learn about the interdict  on 3 July 2014.   

 

When his request to exclude the f i rearm f rom the interdict  was 

not granted in court  on 3 July 2014 , he sat  in h is vehicle a b i t ,  20 

drove to the barracks,  thought he should admit  h imself  to 

hospita l ,  took sleeping clothes,  h is f irearm and two magazines 

and drove to the deceased’s house.   

 

In my view, there was a delayed react ion as opposed to a 25 
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spontaneous one.  Al though a delayed react ion may not 

necessari ly e l iminate the ef fect  of  provocat ion i t  waters i t  

down considerably.   (See S v Mngoma supra  at  para 6).  The 

accused had t ime to reconsider h is act ions.  

 5 

What a lso dist inguishes th is case f rom the so -cal led ‘crimes of 

passion ’ is  the element of  premeditat ion or p lanning that  is 

present.   This case possib ly borders on the category o f  ‘cr imes 

of  vengeance ’ as opposed to those of  passion.  On his own 

version,  the accused and the deceased were no longer in a 10 

re lat ionsh ip per se .   He went to te l l  her not  to refer to h im as 

her boyf r iend, accompanied by two pol icemen at  one point .   He 

to ld h imself  he would never set  foot  in their  house in Delf t  

again af ter he was to ld to leave and manhandled by the 

pol icemen that  were cal led by the deceased.  He did not  know 15 

why there was a need for an interdict  as there was no real 

communicat ion between him and the deceased then.  He 

test i f ied that  the deceased and her family conspired to have 

his f i rearm taken f rom him . Therefore whi lst  i t  should be 

accepted that  the accused acted out of  emot ion i t  was not a 20 

spontaneous act  that  occurred in a spurt  of  uncontro l lable 

anger.   At  least  there is no evidence to support  that.   A period 

lapsed, as I  have already stated,  between the Court  

appearance and the shoot ing incident.    

 25 
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A str ik ing feature between the Kekana case supra  and th is 

case is the re lat ionship that  was f i l led with turmoi l  over a 

period of  t ime.  

 

In the present matter ,  the accused had over a period of  t ime 5 

been in s i tuat ions where h is emot ions were heightened.  A 

si tuat ion in point was when he caught the deceased with 

another man.  He had his f i rearm with h im then, he was also 

devastated by what he saw but he did not  r eact  by shoot ing at 

the deceased or the man he caught her with.   I  understand that 10 

the dist inct ion in th is instance was that  there was no interdict 

at  the t ime requir ing his f i rearm to be returned , however h is 

state of  emot ional d istress had been heightened on many 

occasions before.  

 15 

There are a number of  n iggl ing factor s in my mind including 

those I  have already canvassed.  The accused was not marr ied 

to the deceased, they had no  biological  chi ldren together.  

Nothing bound the accused in th is re lat ionship ,  he could have 

moved on taking into account that  the re lat ionship  was 20 

t roubled f rom day one.  Whi lst I  am mindful  of  the tumultuous 

nature of  the re lat ionship ,  I  am unable to agree that  the t ragic 

consequences were unavoidable when the accused had a 

choice and was advised by a work col league and some of  

those close to h im to leave the re lat ionship.   I f  the deceased 25 
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was th is ‘horr i f ic ’  human being that  she was painted to be by 

the accused in this Court ,  in  whom he had lost  interest ,  he 

should have lef t  her.  

 

The accused admit tedly d id not deal with the stress he 5 

suf fered as he should have.  He only at tended one or two 

counsel l ing sessions between the period of  2010 and 2012.  

He also did not  avai l  h imself  to lawful  remedies to deal with 

conf l ict .   He resorted to solving the disputes between him and 

the deceased by ki l l ing her.    10 

 

The deceased on the other hand fo l lowed the law by seeking 

protect ion against h im when she approached the courts for an 

interdict .  What she sought protect ion f rom happened the very 

same day of  the court  appearance  on return day,  orchestrated 15 

by an accused person who is a t ra ined pol iceman and a law 

enforcement of f icer ,  choosing to defy a court  interdict ,  f i rst  by 

not  returning for the f i rearm and second by going to the very 

p lace he was prohib i ted to go to.   The quest ion that r ings in 

my mind is what e lse could the deceased have done to protect 20 

herself?  Once again ,  th is is not  to say the interdict  was 

warranted,  i f  i t  was not,  the accused was wel l  wi th in h is r ights 

to chal lenge i t  in Court .   The return day was postponed or 

extended only for a few weeks to 30 July 2014.  What is a lso 

concerning is that the deceased did not go to the accused or 25 



 
S S 1 5 / 2 0 1 5  

40 SENTENCE 

 

/NY  / . . .  

conf ront  h im about whatever issues she had with h im that 

caused her to seek an interdict ,  he went to her.    

 

I t  is  t roubl ing that  the ent i re magazine was empt ie d on the 

deceased considering that  a t r igger had to depressed for each 5 

shot.   This is not a case where the f i rearm was depressed 

once and f i red shots automat ical ly.   Furthermore,  the accused 

did not  shoot one or two shots because he could not contro l 

h imself  af ter an al tercat ion .  He empt ied the ent i re magazine on 

the deceased af ter he was ordered to stay away f rom her.   I t  is  10 

evident that  the accused intended to ensure that  she was 

f in ished or had no chance of  making i t .   From the emptying of  

the magazine i t  could be deduced that  the accused wanted to 

ensure that  the deceased got k i l led.   I  have already found that 

the intent ion was direct .   He further went there with a fu l ly 15 

loaded f i rearm having fa i led to return i t  as per the Court  order.  

The deceased was f looded with 15 bul lets ,  causing 42 wounds 

ravaging mainly her r ight  arm and the torso area of  her body.   

 

The accused did not  t ry to rescue the deceased af ter the 20 

shoot ing nor seek help or medical  assistance for her ,  as a t rue 

sign of  showing remorse about what he had done.  I t  is  the 

neighbours that  t r ied to seek help for the deceased.   

 

Mogammat Sedick Davids,  the deceased’s neighbour who 25 
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test i f ied in the main t r ia l ,  stated that  a man dr iving a white 

vehic le af ter the shoot ing had taken place came back  to the 

scene and fe l t  the pulse of  the deceased and said she is gone 

and went back to his vehic le and drove of f .    

 5 

Having out l ined al l  the factors ,  I  am of  the view that 

aggravat ing factors outweigh mit igat ing factors in th is case.  

Reasons for that  are evident f rom what I  have out l ined above.  

I  have taken into account the accused’s personal 

circumstances;  h is emot ional condit ion which he says got the 10 

better of  h im that day.   In that regard I have found that  he had 

choices to move away and had t ime to re consider h is act ions.  

Furthermore,  as I  have shown he did not take the Court  into 

h is fu l l  conf idence in the main t r ia l .    

 15 

I  am mindful  that  the accused is re lat ively st i l l  a  young man 

who was f inancia l ly support ing his family and a f i rst  of fender 

and that  he embroi led himself  in a si tuat ion that  led to t ragic 

consequences.  He struck me as an inte l l igent man during the 

t r ia l .   W ith a l l  those personal factors and the history of  the 20 

re lat ionship between the accused and the deceased , I  cannot 

ignore aggravat ing factors which are screamingly louder , 

including but not  l imited to, the nature of  the of fence, the fact 

that  the accused was a pol iceman , who had a duty to uphold 

the law, that  he had def ied a Court  order by not  returning his 25 
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f i rearm and by going to the deceased’s house and committed 

the of fences short ly af ter appearing in Court ,  and that  he 

planned the ki l l ing of  the deceased and that  he used al l  the 

bul lets in the f i rearm to k i l l  the deceased ensuring that  she 

had no chance of  surviving.  I  am aware t hat  the accused has 5 

young chi ldren who would be growing up without having a 

father present in their  dai ly l ives.    

 

The Court  is however conf ronted with a ser ious and a vio lent 

cr ime.  I t  is  so prevalent  that  there is a specia l  focus in our 10 

country dedicated to deal ing with vio lence against  women and 

chi ldren.   Some fa i l  to use the avai lable means of  resolving 

conf l ict  and are quick to resort to vio lence that  even leads to 

deadly consequences.   

 15 

In th is case,  the deceased sought to protect  herself  f rom bei ng 

ki l led by means of  a protect ion order.   Protect ion orders are 

there to assist  the vulnerable who are vict ims of  domest ic 

vio lence and harassment.   They are there to prevent 

reoccurrence of  such conduct by stat ing what the al leged 20 

perpetrator should ref ra in f rom doing.   The accused defeated 

that  whole object.  

 

A clear message must be sent by our courts that  when an 

interdict  cannot assist  those seeking protect ion and the whole 25 
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purpose is defeated ,  leading to the death of  a vict im the law 

wi l l  take i ts fu l l  course.   Vio lence as a means of  resolving 

conf l ict  has no place in our democratic society.   

 

In view of  a l l  the factors ,  cumulat ively,  I  f ind there to be no 5 

substant ia l  and compel l ing circumstances to deviate f rom the 

minimum sentence ordained for th is t ype of  cr ime.  

 

In the result  I  make the fo l lowing order:  

 10 

1. The accused is sentenced to l i fe imprisonment in respect 

of  the count of  murder.  

 

2. In terms of  the Firearms Control  Act  60 of  2000 , the 

accused is unf it  to possess a f i rearm.  15 

 

 

 

 

 20 

  ___________________________ 

BOQWANA, J 


